ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAY 13 2015

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY **SC Court of Appeals**
Court of General Sessions

R. Markley Dennis, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-002665
Criminal Case No. 2011-GS-10-2074

State of South Carolina.....Respondent,

vs.

Jarret Graddick.....Appellant.

FINAL OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Steven Edward Buckingham
S.C. Bar No. 75089
PERKINS LAW FIRM
200 North Main Street / Suite 301
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
864.908.3900
SBuckingham@JohnPerkinsLaw.com

Robert M. Dudek
Chief Appellate Defender
South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
Post Office Box 11589

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court commit prejudicial error in denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict, in light of the fact that the evidence admitted at trial did not establish Appellant's guilt as charged in the indictment?
2. Did the trial court commit prejudicial error in admitting the inculpatory statement of Appellant's non-testifying co-defendant into evidence, in violation of Appellant's Sixth Amendment right of confrontation?
3. Did the trial court commit prejudicial error in consolidating the trial of Appellant's indictment with the trials of the indictments of two other defendants, in violation of Appellant's due process rights?

IDENTIFICATION OF RELATED CASE

Despite the fact that he was indicted in a separate, individual indictment, Appellant was tried jointly with two other defendants: Keenan Coakley and Kevin Smalls. The jury convicted Coakley and Appellant of armed robbery. Coakley filed an appeal of his conviction, (App. Case No. 2013-002659), and that appeal is still pending. With regard to Smalls, prior to the jury's verdict, Smalls entered a guilty plea to the charge of accessory after the fact to armed robbery. Accordingly, Smalls did not take an appeal from the disposition of his indictment.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from circumstances that provide a textbook illustration of the hazards inherently associated with trying individuals who are charged in separate indictments jointly.

On September 15, 2010, Appellant and three other individuals—Keenan Coakley, Kevin Smalls, and Brian Mazyck—were arrested on suspicion of committing an armed robbery which occurred earlier that day. Appellant was indicted for armed robbery on April 4, 2011. Notably, Appellant was indicted individually for the armed robbery in question; his indictment does not allege that he participated with Coakley, Smalls, Mazyck, or anyone else in concerted criminal action to perpetrate the armed robbery.

The trial on Appellant's indictment commenced on December 3, 2013. As referenced above, Appellant was tried jointly with Coakley and Smalls; Mazyck elected to testify as a State's witness. At no time prior to trial did the State file a motion to consolidate the indictments, or to try the separate indictments of Appellant, Coakley, and Smalls jointly.

In any event, following a four-day trial, on December 6, 2013, the jury convicted Appellant and Coakley of armed robbery; Smalls entered into a guilty plea for accessory after the fact to armed robbery before the jury's verdict was returned. Immediately following the jury's verdict, Appellant was sentenced to a twenty-year term of incarceration. Appellant's notice of appeal was filed and served on or about December 12, 2013.

Through this appeal, Appellant respectfully requests the Court of Appeals to reverse the trial court's decision to deny his motion for a directed verdict and to vacate his conviction and sentence. As explained in this brief, the State failed to establish Appellant's guilt as charged in the indictment. The State's case against Appellant was built entirely on circumstantial evidence; there were no eyewitnesses who identified Appellant's participation in the armed robbery, and there was no physical evidence—including DNA—that linked Appellant to the crime scene. Instead, the State relied on evidence of Coakley's and Smalls' statements and conduct regarding their own guilt, and then imputed that evidence against Appellant to obtain his conviction. However, the State was prohibited from attacking Appellant through evidence of other individuals' guilt, as Appellant's indictment makes no mention of his participation in a criminal scheme. The State made the tactical decision to indict Appellant separately, and as a consequence, the State's evidence does not establish Appellant's guilt as a matter of law. In fact, it is Appellant's position that the State should not have been able to consolidate the trial of Appellant's indictment with Coakley's and Smalls' trial as a matter of law.

Additionally and alternatively through this appeal, Appellant respectfully requests the Court of Appeals to vacate his conviction and sentence and remand his case to the trial court for a new trial. As discussed in this brief, Appellant's Sixth Amendment right to confront adverse witnesses was compromised by the introduction of a certain inculpatory statement made by Coakley. Coakley invoked his Fifth Amendment privilege to refrain from testifying, and was therefore unavailable as a witness. The imputation of this inculpatory statement against Appellant was not

corrected by the trial court through a proper limiting instruction; in fact, the trial court did not believe that the admission of this statement presented any Sixth Amendment issue. Therefore, the admission of the statement was a significant legal error, and it imposed a significant amount of prejudice against Appellant which resulted in his conviction. The only remedy capable of correcting the trial court's error is to vacate the conviction and sentence, and remand the case for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At approximately 6:30pm on September 15, 2010, a cellular phone store located at 3014 South Morgans Point Road in Mount Pleasant, South Carolina was robbed. (R. 50:18–57:22; Tr. 147:18–154:22.) Immediately prior to the time of the robbery, there were only two individuals present in the store: store employees James Blain and Harlee Lynn. Blain and Lynn saw two individuals coming for the entrance to the store. Their faces were obscured, and one was wielding a handgun. Blain and Lynn ran out of another store exit just as the assailants were entering. Blain and Lynn immediately called the police and were met a few moments later at the store by a member of the Mount Pleasant police department. (R. 67:12–22; Tr. 164:12–22.) By that time, the assailants had already left the premises.

As the robbery was occurring, a bystander outside the store heard the cries for help from Blain and Lynn. (R. 110:21–111:6; Tr. 226:21–227:6.) The bystander called 911 and, in addition to the robbery, reported that a distinctively painted Chevrolet Impala that had been parked in front of the cellular phone store had just left the scene in a suspicious manner. The bystander did not see the robbers get into the vehicle, but she gave a description of the vehicle and its license plate number to police anyway. (R. 111:11–113:22; Tr. 227:11–229:22.) The vehicle was stopped by Mount Pleasant police several moments later just a short distance from the scene of the robbery. (R. 199:12–201:15; Tr. 364:12–366:15.)

When the vehicle was stopped, there were four occupants: Kevin Smalls, the owner of the car and its driver; Brian Mazyck, who was occupying the front passenger seat; Appellant, who was sitting behind Smalls in the back seat; and

Keenan Coakley, who was sitting next to Appellant and behind Mazyck. The occupants were ordered out of the car and arrested. (R. 201:25–204:19; Tr. 366:25–369:19.)

While the traffic stop was occurring, Blain and Lynn, with the assistance of law enforcement officers, entered the scene of the robbery to determine what property had been taken. Upon investigation, they discovered that the only item of property missing was a cashbox containing approximately one thousand dollars. (R. 67:12–68:2; Tr. 164:12–165:2.) Blain informed police that there had been a uniquely marked bill in the cashbox and gave them a description of the unique markings. (R. 69:23–71:7; Tr. 166:23–168:7.)

Back at the traffic stop, law enforcement officers began to take an inventory of the contents of the vehicle. In relevant part, they discovered various items of clothing, a .45-caliber handgun, and what later proved to be almost eleven hundred dollars in cash. (R. 251:23–272:11; Tr. 434:23–455:11.) One of the bills was distinctively marked and was later identified by Blain to be the bill that had been present in his cashbox prior to the robbery. (R. 71:8–72:9; Tr. 168:8–169:9.) Additionally, the cashbox itself had been recovered at an area approximately one-quarter of a mile away from the scene of the robbery. (R. 228:8–229:14; Tr. 393:8–394:14.)

Based on the totality of evidence and circumstances, law enforcement believed that Coakley, Smalls, Mazyck, and Appellant had each participated to some degree in perpetrating the armed robbery. The chain of events was believed to have begun some time prior to 6:30pm, when Smalls drove his passengers down a dead-

end road, known as Sam Edwards Road, to let two of them out. Sam Edwards Road terminated in a cul-de-sac about a quarter of a mile from the cellular phone store. Law enforcement believed that the two individuals Smalls dropped off were Coakley and Appellant, who then proceeded on foot through overgrown woods and fields to the scene of the robbery. (R. 30:17–38:7; Tr. 127:17–135:7.) Law enforcement believed that, while Coakley and Appellant were making their way to the store on foot, Smalls relocated his vehicle to the front of the cellular phone store. Mazyck stayed with Smalls. Then, at approximately 6:30pm, Coakley and Appellant are believed to have entered the store to commit the robbery. When Smalls observed that the robbery was underway, he is believed to have then left the scene of the robbery and traveled back down Sam Edwards Road, to the cul-de-sac, so he could pick Coakley and Appellant back up. Law enforcement believed that when Coakley and Appellant retreated from the store, they followed the same path they had just taken on foot to rendezvous with Smalls and Mazyck. It was then, several moments later, that Smalls and his passengers were pulled over and arrested on suspicion of armed robbery. It must be emphasized that Appellant does not agree with these facts, but that these are the facts as law enforcement believed them to be.

In any event, a critical fact occurred during the initiation of the traffic stop. When law enforcement signaled Smalls to pull his vehicle to the shoulder of the road, Mazyck claims that Coakley pointed a gun to the back of Smalls' seat and stated something to the effect of, "Drive! I'm not going back to jail." (R. 334:20–337:14; Tr. 519:20–522:14.) Smalls did not attempt to evade police; instead, Smalls pulled

his vehicle to the shoulder and the traffic stop ensued, leading to the arrest of all four occupants. (R. 201:11–211:2; Tr. 366:11–376:2.)

Coakley, Smalls, Mazyck, and Appellant were each booked that evening on suspicion of committing armed robbery. (R. 350:25–351:2; Tr. 535:25–536:2.) Then, on April 4, 2011, Appellant was indicted for committing the armed robbery in question. (Appellant’s Indictment; R. 4.) Appellant believes—but is not certain—that all four occupants were indicted at or about the same time and that each individual was indicted separately. Notably, Appellant’s indictment does not mention Coakley, Smalls, or Mazyck, and does not reference the existence of a conspiracy or any concerted action in perpetrating the robbery. Appellant maintains his innocence to this day.

Appellant was brought up for trial during the December 2, 2013 term of court. A jury was selected on December 3 and opening statements commenced that afternoon. Despite the fact that Appellant was indicted separately, and despite the fact that Appellant’s indictment does not charge him with participating with anyone else to commit the robbery in question, Appellant was tried jointly with Coakley and Smalls. Mazyck testified as a State’s witness, despite the fact that he was still under indictment for the armed robbery in question. To Appellant’s knowledge, the State never filed a motion to consolidate his indictment with the indictments for Coakley and Smalls, or a motion to consolidate the trial of his indictment with the trials for the indictments of Coakley and Smalls. Furthermore, to Appellant’s knowledge, the trial court never held a hearing to determine whether it was proper for Appellant to be tried jointly with Coakley and Smalls.

In any event, at trial, the State never produced an eyewitness that identified Appellant as a perpetrator of the robbery. Neither Blain nor Lynn testified that Appellant was one of the assailants. Furthermore, neither Blaine nor Lynn, nor any witness for that matter, testified that any clothing recovered from Smalls' vehicle matched the clothing worn by the assailants during the robbery, or that the gun recovered from Smalls' vehicle was the gun used in the robbery. Additionally, the State did not produce any physical evidence, including DNA, that established Appellant's presence in the store at the time of the robbery, or that connected Appellant to any property taken from the scene of the crime. In short, the State's case against Appellant was entirely circumstantial.

During the State's case-in-chief, and in particular, during Mazyck's direct examination, the State had Mazyck testify three times within the span of a few minutes to Coakley's statement: "Drive! I'm not going back to jail." (R. 334:20–337:14; Tr. 519:20–522:14.) Prior to this statement's presentation to the jury, Appellant's counsel objected on the basis of the Sixth Amendment right of confrontation. (R. 325:17–330:25; Tr. 510:17–515:25.) It was Appellant's understanding that Coakley would be invoking his Fifth Amendment privilege against providing self-incriminating testimony, which he did invoke, (R. 506:8–509:8; Tr. 762:8–765:8), and therefore, Coakley would not be available as a witness for cross-examination. Appellant's objection was overruled because the trial court did not perceive any Sixth Amendment issue, and the statement was presented to the jury.

On December 6, 2013, the jury returned a guilty verdict against Coakley and Appellant. (R. 634:18–23; Tr. 905:18–23.) Prior to the jury's verdict on his charge,

Smalls pleaded guilty to accessory after the fact to armed robbery. (R. 662:6–667:1; Tr. 973:6–978:1.) The trial court immediately sentenced Appellant, and he received a prison sentence for a term of twenty years. (R. 658:11–14; Tr. 969:11–14.)

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN DENYING APPELLANT’S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT, IN LIGHT OF THE FACT THAT THE EVIDENCE ADMITTED AT TRIAL DID NOT ESTABLISH APPELLANT’S GUILT AS CHARGED IN THE INDICTMENT.

A verdict must be directed “in the defendant’s favor on any offense charged in the indictment after the evidence on either side is closed, if there is a failure of competent evidence tending to prove the charge in the indictment.” Rule 19(a), SCRCrimP. In cases where the State has failed to present evidence of the offense charged in the indictment, State v. Hepburn, Op. No. 27336, *12 (Dec. 11, 2013), or if the State has presented evidence which merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty of the crime alleged in the indictment, State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593–94, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004), a criminal defendant is entitled to a directed verdict.

In the instant case, Appellant was convicted on circumstantial evidence exclusively. There were no eyewitnesses who identified him as a perpetrator, and there was no physical evidence linking him to the scene of the robbery. In these types of cases, when the State seeks to establish guilt through circumstantial evidence, a directed verdict motion must be granted unless the evidence is “substantial.” Id., 361 S.C. at 593–94, 606 S.E.2d at 478 (citation omitted). Circumstantial evidence is substantial when it reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or when it provides a basis from which the guilt of the accused may be fairly and logically deduced. Id., 361 S.C. at 594, 606 S.E.2d at 478 (citations omitted).

When the trial court is presented with a motion for a directed verdict, the court should review the sufficiency of the evidence presented by the State in light of the allegations of the indictment. The indictment is the notice document; its primary purpose is to put the defendant on notice of the nature and scope of what he is called upon to answer. See, e.g., State v. Fonseca, 383 S.C. 640, 646, 681 S.E.2d 1, 4 (Ct. App. 2009); State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 102–03, 610 S.E.2d 494, 499–500 (2005) (citation omitted). If the State’s evidence fails to establish the facts and theories charged in the indictment, then a motion for directed verdict must be granted. See, e.g., New York v. Rubin, 474 N.Y.S.2d 348, 352 (Ct. App. 1984) (“A defendant’s right to be tried and convicted of only those crimes and theories charged in the indictment is fundamental.” (internal quotation and citation omitted)); West v. Texas, 572 S.W.2d 712, 713 (Tex. Ct. Crim. App. 1978) (“Wherever the indictment charges an offense, the facts and the charge of the court must conform to the charges contained in the indictment” (citation omitted)).

A. The Content of Appellant’s Indictment

A copy of Appellant’s indictment has been included in the record on appeal. However, for the Court’s convenience, the substance of the indictment is set out below.

Armed Robbery

That on or about September 15, 2010, in Charleston County, South Carolina, the Defendant, Jarret Graddick, while at 3014 South Morgans Point Road, Mt. Pleasant, South Carolina, by use of force, threats[,] or intimidation and while armed with a deadly weapon, or while alleging, either by action or words, was armed while using a representation of a deadly weapon or other object which a person present during the commission of the robbery reasonably believed to be a deadly weapon, did take and carry away goods and/or monies

from the person or immediate presence of Phone Smart employees with the intent to permanently deprive the victims of possession thereof, in violation of Section 16-11-330(A) of the South Carolina Code of Laws (1976) as amended.

(Appellant's Indictment; R. 4.)

B. Appellant's Directed Verdict Motion

At the close of the State's case-in-chief, Appellant requested a directed verdict on the basis that there was insufficient evidence to establish that Appellant was involved in the armed robbery at issue. (R. 496:20–497:8; Tr. 721:20–722:8.) The trial court denied Appellant's motion, ruling that the State had presented substantial circumstantial evidence of Appellant's involvement. (R. 427:9–22; Tr. 722:9–22.) Then, at the close of Defendants' case-in-chief, Appellant renewed his motion for a directed verdict, arguing that the State had failed to meet its burden that Appellant was one of the robbers. (R. 515:9–16; Tr. 773:9–16.) The motion was denied. (R. 515:17–24; Tr. 773:17–24.)

C. The State failed to offer evidence sufficient to establish Appellant's guilt under the indictment as charged.

For the Court's convenience, the charges set out in the indictment have been reorganized for clarity. The State's evidence, as well as the lack of State's evidence, is set out below in connection with each specific factual charge.

1. *The Allegation: Jarret Graddick was at 3014 South Morgans Point Road, Mt. Pleasant, South Carolina, on or about September 15, 2010.*

The State did not offer any direct evidence of this allegation. The victims of the robbery on September 15, 2010 at 3014 South Morgans Point Road did not provide any testimony that identified Appellant as one of the perpetrators. (See R. 50:13–92:8; Tr. 147:13–189:8 (testimony of James Blaine); R. 93:13–109:23; Tr.

209:13–225:23 (testimony of Harlee Lynn).) No bystanding witness identified Appellant as a perpetrator. Not even the State’s key witness—Brian Mazyck—could testify that he saw Appellant at the scene of the crime, despite the fact that he was allegedly in front of the store at the time of the robbery. (See R. 300:2–433:6; Tr. 485:2–618:6 (testimony of Brian Mazyck).)

The only evidence offered by the State as to Appellant’s presence at the scene of the crime was circumstantial. Mazyck testified that he was present in Smalls’ vehicle when Smalls picked Coakley and Appellant up at the end of a dead-end road. (R. 319:10–323:7; Tr. 504:10–508:7.) The record is not clear about the distance of the dead-end road from the scene of the crime; but a review of information maintained by the Charleston County Property Information System indicates that the distance is approximately one-quarter of a mile. (Charleston County Property Information System, *available online at* <http://ccgisweb.charlestoncounty.org> (Dec. 7, 2014).) This is the closest that any witness affirmatively places Appellant to the store.

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