ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

MAY 05 2015

Appeal From Charleston County
The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2013-002665

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JARRET GRADDICK,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal From Charleston County

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

7. Officers at the scene saw a Glock handgun on the floorboard, and cash and clothing on the back seat (TT, pp. 391-393; R. pp. 0226-0228).

8. A crime scene officer testified he processed the car before it was towed, and located clothing that was turned inside out, gloves underneath the driver's seat and in a pocket on the back of the front passenger seat, a loaded Glock .45 caliber handgun on the back seat floorboard stuck under the front passenger seat, and over \$1000 cash on the back seat, including a \$100 bill with unique markings on it. He also recovered the cashbox discarded by the road near the shopping center. During a subsequent search of the car, he found additional clothing on the floorboard of the back passenger seat, including shirts knotted in such a way they could be used to cover the face, and two pairs of sunglasses. In addition, one of the shirts originally seized had two plastic gloves wrapped inside it (TT, pp. 435-437, 441-450, 453-455, 458-474, R., pp. 0252-0254, 0258-0267, 0275-0291).

9. A DNA expert testified Appellant's DNA matched DNA found on the trigger and trigger guard of the Glock handgun, and swab from a t-shirt and a black shirt found in the car. He could not be excluded as a contributor on other evidence found in the vehicle, including the plastic gloves wrapped up in the shirts found on the rear driver's side floorboard where Appellant was sitting. Appellant's three co-defendants were

excluded as possible contributors on those items. (TT, pp. 677-695; R., pp 0452-0470)

Taken in the light most favorable to the State, it can certainly be reasonably inferred from the State's evidence not only that Appellant was involved in the armed robbery, but he was one of the men who actually entered the cell phone store, and he was the one carrying the gun. The ultimate determination of his involvement was clearly a question for the jury. *Cf.*, Barber v. State, 393 S.C. 232, 712 S.E 2d 436, 439 (2011) (accomplice liability charge appropriate in light of evidence the perpetrators clothed themselves all in black and wrapped shirts around their heads so only their eyes were visible and victims could not differentiate between them).

The circuit court properly considered the existence of evidence from which Appellant's guilt could be determined, and the record amply supports the denial of Appellant's directed verdict motion. Accordingly, the circuit court's ruling should be affirmed.

II. The circuit court properly allowed Mazyck to testify about Coakley's statement when the police stopped their car within minutes after the armed robbery was reported.

Appellant asserts the circuit court erred in admitting Mazyck's testimony regarding Coakley's statement he was "not going back to jail" when the officer initiated the traffic stop, contending it violated Appellant's rights under the Confrontation Clause because he could not cross-examine Coakley about it. He further contends admission of the statement was prejudicial to him because the State proceeded on a "hand of one is the hand of all" theory, which he argues means the "mouth of one is the mouth of all." These contentions are nonsensical, and not legally or factually supported.

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion, which occurs when the trial court's conclusions either lack evidentiary support, or are controlled by an error of law. State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006) The appellate court reviews a trial court's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence under Rule 403, SCRE, for abuse of discretion, and should only reverse that decision in exceptional circumstances. State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 763 S.E.2d 22, 28 (2014), reh'g denied (Sept. 24, 2014); *see also* State v. Williams, 409 S.C. 455, 761 S.E.2d 770, 775 (Ct. App. 2014)("If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal.") (*quoting* State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 665 S.E.2d 201, 207 [Ct. App. 2008]). In this case, the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in admitting the statement at issue

A. Confrontation Clause

Prior to Mazyck's testimony regarding Coakley's statement inside the car, Appellant objected on the ground he could not cross-examine Coakley about it. Notably, as discussed below, Appellant did **not** argue the statement was unduly prejudicial to him because of the State's "hand of one is the hand of all" theory. (TT, p. 512; R., p. 0327).

The circuit court determined it was a pre-arrest statement against interest made by Coakley in front of a non-law enforcement third party, and as such, it did not implicate Bruton.¹ The court further ruled Appellant could cross-examine Mazyck about what he heard Coakley say, and did not need to cross-examine Coakley. (TT, pp. 513-515; R., pp. 0328-0330). After Mazyck testified, the court also found the statement had "significant probative value." (TT, p. 628, R., pp. 0439).

As a threshold matter, the statement at issue was not a confession or admission regarding the armed robbery. While it could be construed as evidence Coakley feared he might go to jail for **some** reason, any inference to be drawn from the statement in relation to the armed robbery went to Coakley only, and was a matter for the jury. As the circuit court found, Coakley's previous experience in jail could have been related to any number of issues, including a traffic violation or a family court matter. (TT, p. 627; R., pp. 0438). Thus, the statement was no more than a vague reference indicating Coakley, **not** Appellant, had some prior interaction with the judicial system. It is undisputed law enforcement did not induce the very vague statement recounted by Mazyck, no one

¹Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 126 (1968) (admission of a non-testifying co-defendant's confession that implicates a defendant violates the defendant's Confrontation Clause rights).

associated with the State was present when Coakley made it, and Appellant was free to, and did, challenge Mazyck's credibility.

B. Rule 403

It is well established in South Carolina that an issue must be raised to and ruled on by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review. Roberts v State, 408 S.C. 123, 757 S.E.2d 744, 748 (Ct. App. 2014) (*citing* State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 716 S.E.2d 91 [2011]). “Moreover, in order to preserve the issue for appeal, an objection must be sufficiently specific to inform the trial court of the point being urged by the objector.” Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). *See also* State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 482 S.E.2d 760 (1997) (failure to state specific grounds for objection to solicitor's closing argument did not preserve any issue for appellate review); Jean H. Toal, Shahin Vafai & Robert Muckenfuss, Appellate Practice in South Carolina, 2nd ed. 73-74 (2002) (same). A party may not argue one ground at trial and another on appeal. State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 355, 751 S.E.2d 645, 661 (2013).

As noted above, the only ground Appellant raised at trial in relation to the statement was the Confrontation Clause, and he did not contend the statement was unduly prejudicial to him for any reason, much less the State's theory of the case. Therefore, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. Even if preserved, however, Appellant's argument is meritless.

Probative evidence may be excluded **if** the prejudicial effect outweighs the probative value. Rule 403, SCRE. “Unfair prejudice” does not mean the damage to a defendant's case resulting from the evidence's legitimate probative force of the evidence, but refers to evidence which tends to suggest decision on an improper basis. State v.

McGee, 408 S.C. 278, 758 S.E.2d 730, 736 (Ct. App. 2014). Only “unfair prejudice” must be scrutinized under Rule 403. *Id*

Appellant contends admission of Coakley’s statement prejudiced Appellant because it was impermissible character evidence as to Appellant, which likely led the jury to convict him only because he associated with Coakley, who had a criminal past. This contention is, at best, rank speculation.

Coakley’s statement had **absolutely nothing** to do with Appellant, and in no way attacked, or even implicated, Appellant’s character. It requires a quantum leap of logic and speculation to conclude a reasonable juror would infer bad character as to Appellant, and convict him simply because he was in a car with a person who had some previous interaction with the judicial system.

As outlined in Issue I above, the evidence established two male robbers left the cell phone store and went into a field behind it. A witness testified he saw two men come out of that field, throw down the cashbox, and apparently get into a car identified as one seen outside the store during the robbery. Very soon thereafter, Appellant was found in the backseat of that car, along with a gun and cash taken from the store, and his DNA was found on the gun, clothing and a plastic glove found in the car. It is far more likely the jury convicted Appellant based on that evidence, rather than Coakley’s vague statement about “not going back to jail.”²

Appellant’s claim of prejudice from Coakley’s statement is spun from whole cloth, with no basis in fact. There is nothing in the record from which this Court can

²The circuit court found Coakley’s statement was highly probative of Coakley’s state of mind and Smalls’ involvement in the robbery, and Appellant does not challenge that finding on appeal.

conclude the jury made any inference as to Appellant from Coakley's statement regarding his own past experience. Therefore, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion, and its ruling on this issue should be affirmed.³

³Even if this Court finds error in admitting the statement, any error was harmless. The materiality and prejudicial character of the alleged error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case, and an error is harmless when it could not have reasonably affect the jury's verdict. State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 575 S.E.2d 77, 83 (Ct. App.2003). A conviction should not be reversed when review of the entire record establishes the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id* As discussed above, without considering the statement at all, there was substantial evidence from which the jury could find Appellant guilty of armed robbery.

III. Appellant's case was properly called for trial with the co-defendant's cases, and Appellant never moved to sever his case.

Appellant asserts the circuit court erred in trying the three co-defendants jointly because they were indicted individually, the State never moved to consolidate the cases for trial, and the State "changed" its theory of the case from individual liability to concerted liability. As a threshold matter, this issue is not preserved for review. Further, it is clear from the record Appellant was represented by competent counsel, who knew the State's theory of the case, and evidence the State intended to present, well before the cases were called for trial.

Prior to jury selection, the circuit court conducted a status conference with the State and counsel for all three defendants. After discussion regarding the order of closing arguments in a joint trial, including case law involving severance issues, the discussion moved to the number of alternate juror strikes available to the defendants. (TT, pp. 14-18; R., pp. 0009-0013).

Smalls' counsel objected to the defendants having to share the alternate strikes, and the circuit court noted there was no motion to sever filed. Smalls' counsel then made a verbal motion to sever based on the number of available strikes and the order of closing arguments. The court denied the motion, and made it clear if any other defendants wanted to join in a motion, it needed to be stated for the record. Neither Appellant or Coakley joined in Smalls' verbal motion to sever. (TT, pp. 18-23; R., pp. 0013-0018).

When the cases were formerly called for trial, the court listed all three defendants as parties, and identified each one for the jury panel. Appellant and his counsel were in the courtroom, and did not move to sever the cases at that time. (TT, pp. 30-32; R., pp. 0025-0027).

In the face of Smalls' verbal motion to sever, and the court's admonition that each defendant had to join in motions on the record, Appellant did not move to sever his case for trial even though he had ample opportunity to do so, and he clearly knew the defendants were being tried jointly before the cases were called for trial on December 3, 2013. Therefore, the issue of proper joinder is not preserved for appellate review.

Even if preserved, Appellant's contentions regarding prejudice from the joint trial are patently meritless. As discussed above in Issue I, Appellant misunderstands accomplice liability, which can arise even if co-defendants are not expressly named in an individual defendant's indictment. The record is clear Appellant and his counsel knew prior to trial the State alleged all the defendants were guilty as principals in the armed robbery under the hand of one is the hand of all doctrine, so the State's "theory" did not change between indictment and trial, and Appellant was not forced to change his defense strategy.

Appellant asserts joinder was improper because the State never moved to consolidate the cases for trial. As support for this assertion, he cites State v. Jones, 325 310, 479 S.E.2d 517 (Ct. App. 1996), for the proposition the State may consolidate indictments of separate defendants for trial "only pursuant to a timely motion." (Brief of Appellant, p. 28). A cursory review of the Jones opinion reveals, however, that it does not even "suggest" formal motions to consolidate are required, but simply states the State filed a motion to consolidate in that case. *Id.* at 519.⁴ Even if a motion to consolidate is

⁴Appellant does not cite, and the State cannot find, any South Carolina case holding motions to consolidate are required, or even that the circuit court must hold a hearing on the joint trial issue in the absence of any motion regarding the joint trial. Rather, the existing case law generally addresses joint trials in the context of a motion to sever by one or more of the defendants.

required, as a procedural and practical matter, the State essentially moves to consolidate the cases when it notices and calls them for trial at the same time, and the defendants are free to move for severance.

Appellant concedes there are no South Carolina cases on point, but cites “a line of cases” (consisting of two cases) from Florida holding consolidating the trial of separately indicted defendants on the eve of trial is “presumptively prejudicial.” (Brief of Appellant, pp. 29-30). He fails to note, however, that Rule 3.151, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, which served as the basis for the Florida cases, expressly requires a “timely motion” to consolidate two or more indictments charging related offenses. *See Brown v. State*, 424 So.2d 950, 953-954 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1983) (state’s motion to consolidate filed two days before trial was untimely), *Williams v. State*, 600 So.2d 540, 541 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1992) (state’s motion to consolidate filed on the day of trial was untimely). There is no similar provision in the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure.

Appellant also asserts he was actually prejudiced by the joint trial because of the Confrontation Clause issue associated with the testimony regarding Coakley’s statement. As discussed in Issue II above, there simply was no Confrontation Clause issue arising from that testimony. Further, Appellant concedes his counsel knew prior to the cases being called for trial that Mazyck was going to testify about Coakley’s statement, but insists he had no reasonable opportunity to contest consolidation. (Brief of Appellant, p.

31) In light of his concession, and the clear opportunity he had to move for severance prior to jury selection, his claim of prejudice defies belief.⁵

The consolidation issue was not preserved for appellate review, and in the absence of a motion to sever and a showing of prejudice, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the joint trial to proceed. Therefore, Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

⁵Appellant engages in a litany of various outcomes if a reasonable opportunity to contest consolidation had been available, which starkly demonstrates the pure speculation underlying many of Appellant's claims in this appeal